SUPREME COURT
FILED

OCT 22 2015



Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

S _____
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JAIME A. SCHER and JANE McALLISTER

Petitioners,

v.

JOHN F. BURKE; GERMAINE BURKE; RICHARD
ERICKSON; CHRISTINA ERTESZAK; BENNETT KERNS,
TRUSTEE OF THE A.S.A. TRUST, DATED JUNE 28, 2005;
WENDIE MALICK; GEMMA MARSHALL; NORTHERN
TRUST BANK N.A.; ANDREA D. SCHRODER; and
RICHARD B. SCHRODER

Respondents.

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the Second
Appellate District,
Division Three, 2nd Civil No. B235892
After An Appeal From the Superior Court For The State of
California,
County of Los Angeles, Case Number BC 415646,
Hon. Malcolm Mackey

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Civil Code section 1009 appears to provide use of non-coastal private property cannot ripen to confer upon the public or any government body or unit a vested right to continue such use of the property. Prior cases from the Third and Fourth Districts of the Court of Appeal have held Section 1009 applies only to recreational use of property. In the case at issue, the Second District Court of Appeal held that Section 1009 also encompasses non-recreational use of a road on non-coastal property, giving rise to the following issues:

1. Does Civil Code section 1009 preclude non-recreational use of non-coastal private property from ripening into a public road?
2. Did the enactment of Civil Code section 1009 change the law of implied dedication by prohibiting implied dedication of a road on non-coastal property?

II.

INTRODUCTION

The above issues regarding the scope and impact of Civil Code section 1009 arise in the context of a dispute among neighboring property owners regarding the use of two roads in the Topanga area of Los Angeles County, Henry Ridge Motorway and Gold Stone Road.

Plaintiffs below, Jaime Scher and Jane McAllister, filed suit to establish access to their home via a public right-of-way or a private easement over these roads, which neighboring property owners had blocked off, years into plaintiffs' and the public's use of these roads, the public's use in fact dating back more than a century.

As the litigation progressed, the scope and impact of Civil Code section 1009 came to dominate the case. Plaintiffs were partially successful at the trial court level, obtaining a judgment that the roads in question had been impliedly dedicated as public right-of-way, but failing to obtain a judgment in their favor on private easement theories. The trial court concluded the use of the roads in question was a non-recreational use and therefore Civil Code section 1009 was not applicable and did not prevent use of the roads from ripening into a public right. The defendant property owners appealed, prompting plaintiffs to file a cross-appeal. The Second District Court of Appeal, focusing on Civil Code section 1009 and dismissing contrary decisions of the Third and Fourth Districts (Slip Opinion at 31, 33, copy attached as Exhibit 1), concluded that, under Civil Code section 1009, no use, recreational or non-recreational, could ripen into an implied dedication of a road across private property.

The resulting opinion creates a conflict of authority regarding the interpretation and application of Section 1009. Moreover, it expands the scope of Section 1009 so as to obliterate the law of implied dedication as it relates to roads, even where a prior property owner's intent to dedicate the road was expressly stated in recorded documents, and even where the current property owners are trying to establish legal access to their own home.

The Legislature adopted Civil Code section 1009 in response to a decision of this Court regarding whether certain privately owned beach properties long used by the public had been impliedly dedicated to public recreational use. (*Gion v. City of Santa Cruz* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 29, 84, Cal.Rptr. 162 (consolidated with *Dietz v. King* ("*Gion-Dietz*").) Viewed at the time as a major departure from prior law, *Gion-Dietz* was later recognized by this Court as consistent with prior law, and not the first or only application of implied dedication to something other than a road. The courts have reacted to the Legislature's response to *Gion-Dietz* by focussing on whether non-recreational use of property is within the scope of Section 1009, even in cases involving roads. The focus in the cases on the recreational versus non-recreational use issue has obscured a more fundamental issue – whether Section 1009 applies to prohibit implied dedication of roads under any circumstances. To date, there is no

published case addressing whether Section 1009 was intended to affect implied dedication of roads on non-coastal private property, as opposed to more general use of private property by the public.

More than forty years after the enactment of Section 1009, this case shines a spotlight on the incomplete understanding of *Gion-Dietz* and Section 1009. What began as an effort to encourage owners of private property, whose land has become woven into the State's coastal recreational resources, to allow that use to continue while they retain their private property rights, has been reshaped by the Second District Court of Appeal to prevent even daily users of roads in a subdivision from establishing a public right-of-way if there were some failure or defect in formal acceptance of the dedication of those roads. This expansion of the impact of a statute of limited scope must be checked before it spreads beyond this case.

III.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PETITION

A. The Basics of Implied Dedication Prior to *Gion-Dietz*

It is hornbook law that an “easement may be created by either statutory or common law dedication.” (6 Miller & Starr, *Cal. Real Estate* (4th Ed. 2015) Easements, § 15:43, p. 15-154.) “A common law dedication may be accomplished in any manner in which a property owner evidences an intention to offer his or her property for a public use

by his or her acts or conduct, and the public evidences an intention to accept the offer. Use of the property by the public may be sufficient, by itself, to indicate both the property owner's intention to dedicate his or her property and the public's acceptance of the offer." (*Id.*)

There are two types of implied dedications. Under an implied in law dedication, an offer to dedicate is made by an act or circumstance, such as public use known to the property owner which exceeds the period for prescription, which implies the owner's intent to dedicate. (See *Friends of the Trails v. Blasius* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 810, 824-25, 93 Cal.Rptr.2d 193.) An implied in law dedication can be found where public use of a roadway continues for more than the period of prescription, which is five years in California, irrespective of the intent to offer or not to offer the road for dedication to public use, which may be deduced from the acts or omissions of the owner. (*County of Los Angeles v. Berk* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 201, 214, 161 Cal.Rptr. 742, 605 P.2d 381.) Under an implied in fact dedication, an offer to dedicate is made by an act or omission of the landowner, such as recording a map showing roads to be dedicated to public use. (See *Union Transp. Co. v. Sacramento County* (1954) 42 Cal.2d 235, 241, 267 P.2d 10; *Friends of the Trails v. Blasius* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 810, 821, 93 Cal.Rptr.2d 193.) Acceptance of an implied in fact dedication may occur by formal

action of a government body, or less formally by use of the roads. (10 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Estate (4th ed. 2011) Dedication §22:22, p. 26-5; *Baldwin v. City of Los Angeles* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 819, 837.)

B. The Perceived Problem of *Gion-Dietz*

In 1970, the California Supreme Court in *Gion-Dietz* decided that certain beach properties and roads leading to them, though privately owned, had been impliedly dedicated to public recreational use because they were used by the public for a period of more than five years without significant objection from the property owner. While roads made up part of the property at issue in *Gion-Dietz*, what generated concern was the application of implied dedication to establish a public use on open land that could prevent the property owner from using the property for some other purpose.

Implied dedication of roads predominated in the case law prior to *Gion-Dietz*, but was not the exclusive situation in which implied dedication had been recognized.

A final question that has concerned lower courts is *whether the rules governing shoreline property differ from those governing other types of property, particularly roads*. Most of the case law involving dedication in this state has concerned roads and land bordering roads. [Citations.]

This emphasis on roadways arises from *the ease with which one can define a road, the frequent need for roadways through private property*, and perhaps also the relative frequency with which express dedications of roadways are made. *The rules governing implied dedication apply with equal force, however, to land used by the public for purposes other than as a roadway.* In this state, for instance, the public has gained rights, through dedication, in park land [citations] in athletic fields [citations] and in beaches [citations].

(*Gion-Dietz, supra*, 2 Cal.3d at 41-42 [emphasis added].) This Court went on to find further support for application of implied dedication to public use of shoreline recreational areas in the state Constitution and other legislative enactments. (*Id.*, at 42-43.) “Even if we were reluctant to apply the rules of common-law dedication to *open recreational areas*, we must observe the strong policy expressed in the constitution and statutes of this state of encouraging public use of shoreline recreational uses.” (*Id.*, at 42 [emphasis added].) In light of those constitutional and statutory provisions, and other more practical realities, this Court concluded a change in the application of implied dedication in the context of recreational use of beach areas was necessary.

This court has in the past been less receptive to arguments of implied dedication when *open beach lands* were involved than it has been when *well-defined roadways* are at issue [citations]. With the increased urbanization of this state, however, beach areas are now as well-defined as roadways. This intensification of land use combined with the clear public policy in favor of encouraging and expanding public access to and use of shoreline areas leads us to the conclusion that the courts of this state must be as receptive to a finding of implied dedication of shoreline areas as they are to a finding of implied dedication of roadways. [Citation.]

(*Id.*, at 43 [emphasis added].)

The *Gion-Dietz* case solely dealt with use of open land, not specifically roads, “for public recreation purposes,” “various kinds of recreational activities,” “public recreation purposes, and uses incidental,” “recreational uses,” and “recreational purposes.” (*Id.*, at 35, 36, and 42, 84 Cal.Rptr. at 166,171.)

In *County of Los Angeles v. Berk*, *supra*, 26 Cal.3d at 213, this Court rejected claims *Gion-Dietz* gave birth to a major change in the law. “*Gion-Dietz*, far from signaling the momentous ‘redefinition of property

rights' which defendant would depict, simply represents a restatement and clarification of well-established former law and an application of that law, as so restated and clarified, to a *unique pattern of factual circumstances*." [Emphasis added.] *Gion-Dietz* was a departure from prior law, if at all, in the application of implied dedication doctrine to something other than a roadway. (*Id.*, at 214-215.)

C. Civil Code Section 1009 as Legislative Response to *Gion-Dietz*

In direct response to *Gion-Dietz*'s holding regarding recreational public use of beach property, the California Legislature enacted Section 1009 of the Civil Code. (*Friends of the Trails v. Blasius, supra*, 78 Cal.App.4th at 822-823, 93 Cal.Rptr.2d 193.) While establishment of a public easement for recreational use over an entire parcel of property could prevent the owner from making any use of the property at all, the same cannot be said of an implied dedication of a road. Implied dedication of a road does not appear to have historically interfered with private property rights to such a degree it would prevent all other use of an entire parcel of property. Depending on what the property owner wants to do with the property, a road could even facilitate a productive use. Moreover, the location of such a road could be changed, if need be, to facilitate use of the remainder of the property. There was no need to change the law of implied dedication of *roads* to address the application

of the law of implied dedication in *Gion-Dietz* to *open land used for recreational purposes*.

Civil Code section 1009, the Legislature's "solution" to the "problem" created by *Gion-Dietz*, reads as follows:

(a) The Legislature finds that:

(1) It is in the best interests of the state to encourage owners of private real property to *continue to make their lands available for public recreational use* to supplement opportunities available on tax-supported publicly owned facilities.

(2) Owners of private real property are confronted with the threat of loss of rights in their property if they allow or continue to allow members of the public to use, enjoy or pass over their property *for recreational purposes*.

(3) The stability and marketability of record titles is clouded by such public use, thereby compelling the owner to exclude the public from his property.

(b) Regardless of whether or not a private owner of real property has recorded a notice of consent to use of any particular property pursuant to Section 813 of the Civil Code or has posted signs on such property pursuant to

Section 1008 of the Civil Code, except as otherwise provided in subdivision (d), *no use of such property by the public after the effective date of this section shall ever ripen to confer upon the public or any governmental body or unit a vested right to continue to make such use permanently, in the absence of an express written irrevocable offer of dedication of such property to such use, made by the owner thereof in the manner prescribed in subdivision (c) of this section, which has been accepted by the county, city, or other public body to which the offer of dedication was made, in the manner set forth in subdivision (c).*

(c) *In addition to any procedure authorized by law and not prohibited by this section, an irrevocable offer of dedication may be made in the manner prescribed in Section 7050 of the Government Code to any county, city, or other public body, and may be accepted or terminated, in the manner prescribed in that section, by the county board of supervisors in the case of an offer of dedication to a county, by the city council in the case of an offer of dedication to a city, or by the governing board of any other*

public body in the case of an offer of dedication to such body.

(d) Where a governmental entity is using private lands by an expenditure of public funds on visible improvements on or across such lands or on the cleaning or maintenance related to the public use of such lands in such a manner so that the owner knows or should know that the public is making such use of his land, such use, including any public use reasonably related to the purposes of such improvement, in the absence of either express permission by the owner to continue such use or the taking by the owner of reasonable steps to enjoin, remove or prohibit such use, shall after five years ripen to confer upon the governmental entity a vested right to continue such use.

(e) *Subdivision (b) shall not apply to any coastal property which lies within 1,000 yards inland of the mean high tide line of the Pacific Ocean, and harbors, estuaries, bays and inlets thereof, but not including any property lying inland of the Carquinez Straits bridge, or between the mean high tide line and the nearest public road or highway, whichever distance is less.*

(f) No use, subsequent to the effective date of this section, by the public of property described in subdivision (e) shall constitute evidence or be admissible as evidence that the public or any governmental body or unit has any right in such property by implied dedication if the owner does any of the following actions:

(1) Posts signs, as provided in Section 1008, and renews the same, if they are removed, at least once a year, or publishes annually, pursuant to Section 6066 of the Government Code, in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties in which the land is located, a statement describing the property and reading substantially as follows: "Right to pass by permission and subject to control of owner: Section 1008, Civil Code."

(2) Records a notice as provided in Section 813.

(3) Enters into a written agreement with any federal, state, or local agency providing for the public use of such land.

After taking any of the actions set forth in paragraph (1), (2), or (3), and during the time such action is effective, the owner shall not prevent any public use which is

appropriate under the permission granted pursuant to such paragraphs by physical obstruction, notice, or otherwise.

(g) The permission for public use of real property referred to in subdivision (f) may be conditioned upon reasonable restrictions on the time, place, and manner of such public use, and no use in violation of such restrictions shall be considered public use for purposes of a finding of implied dedication.

[Emphasis added.]

Viewed individually, the various subdivisions of Section 1009 point in a variety of directions. None, however, point down the path of completely eliminating implied dedication of roads on non-coastal property for non-recreational use.

In subdivision (a), the Legislature states its intention to encourage the continued use of private property for recreational use by ensuring that property owners who do so will not lose their property entirely to the public. In *People v. Watson* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 822, 828, 68 Cal.Rptr.3d 769, this Court states, “[t]he objective of a court construing a statute is ‘to ascertain the intent of the enacting legislative body so that we may adopt the construction that best effectuates the purpose of the law.’ [Citations.]” Here, it is easy to “ascertain the intent of the enacting

legislative body” because the Legislature inserted its intent directly into the language of the statute. What the Legislature did not say is as important as what it did. In distinguishing between recreational use and non-recreational use, and in distinguishing between coastal property and non-coastal property, the Legislature did not evidence any intent to change the law of implied dedication as it relates to roads.

In subdivision (b), the Legislature appears to state that the only method of dedicating property to public use is the method set forth in subdivision (c). Subdivision (c) states that, *in addition to any procedure authorized by law and not prohibited by this section*, an irrevocable offer of dedication *may* be made and accepted pursuant to Government Code section 7050. Confusion reigns here. Subdivision (b) appears to say Government Code section 7050 is the only means of dedicating property to public use, but subdivision (c) makes that method permissive, not mandatory, and provides other procedures exist as well. The introductory clause of subdivision (c) must mean other methods of dedication are *not completely eliminated* by Section 1009. If subdivision (b) is interpreted to completely obliterate the concept of implied dedication, whether the public use is recreational or non-recreational, whether the use is for a road or for some other purpose, then the introductory clause of subdivision (c) is rendered surplusage, contrary to

principles of statutory construction. (*Hughes Electronics Corp. v. Citibank Delaware* (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 251, 270 n. 18, 15 Cal.Rptr.3d 244.)

Subdivision (d) addresses the circumstances in which a government entity can obtain a vested right to continued use of private property.

Subdivision (e) defines “coastal property” and states subdivision (b) does not apply to it, leaving open the potential for implied dedication of coastal property to public use, preserving the holding of *Gion-Dietz* with respect to coastal property. Subdivisions (f) and (g) establish the means by which owners of coastal property can permit use of their property and protect their rights.

However one looks at Section 1009, though, there is nothing in the statute, and nothing in the *Gion-Dietz* decision, that expressly or necessarily eliminates implied dedication of roads.

D. This Case Creates A Conflict of Authority and Improperly Interprets Civil Code Section 1009 as Prohibiting Implied Dedication of A Road for Non-Recreational Use

Cases regarding the application of Civil Code section 1009 to roads have focused on the recreational versus non-recreational use issue rather than addressing the related question whether roads – which may or

may not be a recreational use – are a use affected by that section. Prior published cases, however, conclude, one way or another, that implied dedication of roads is not prevented by Section 1009.

In *Burch v. Gombos* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 352, 356, n. 1, 361, n. 12, 98 Cal.Rptr.2d 119, and *Friends of the Trails v. Blasius* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 810, 817, the court concluded use of a road prior to the effective date of Section 1009 had resulted in implied dedication. Because Section 1009 applied prospectively only, the court found it unnecessary to address the statute at all.

In *Hanshaw v. Long Valley Road Ass'n* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 471, 475, 482, 11 Cal.Rptr.3d 357, there was an explicit dedication of a road, and the court concluded use of the road constituted acceptance of the dedication, even though the use began after the effective date of Section 1009. The court found Section 1009 inapplicable because the road use was not a recreational use.

Civil Code Section 1009 involves the inability to establish a public road by *public recreational uses* of private property. . . . [T]he statute was enacted to limit the scope of *Gion* . . . which had found an implied dedication of shoreline access for recreational purposes . . . [T]he purpose of the statute is to allow owners to open land for

recreational use without fear of losing land due to public user. [There are no cases cited] construing Civil Code Section 1009 as applying to nonrecreational use of land.

(*Id.*, at 484-485 [italics in original].)

The *Hanshaw* court went on to conclude that “Civil Code Section 1009 — which allows a landowner to open land for public recreational use without fear of an implied dedication finding — *has no application to nonrecreational use of land.*” [Emphasis added.] (*Id.*, at 474.)

A third published decision follows the same route as *Hanshaw*.

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