SUPREME COURT FILED

CASE NO.: S230104

NOV 1 3 2015

IN THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA-

Deputy

JAIME A. SCHER and JANE McALLISTER,

Petitioners,

v.



JOHN F. BURKE; et al.,

Respondent.

After a Decision By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 3

Docket Number: B235892

Superior Court of Los Angeles, The Honorable Malcolm Mackey; Case No: BC 415646

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION
I. PETITIONERS FAIL TO CHALLENGE THE OPINION'S DEMONSTRATION THAT SECTION 1009 APPLIES TO NON-RECREATIONAL USES.
II. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR AN EXCEPTION IN SECTION 1009 FOR ROADS
III. PETITIONERS CONTENTION THAT SECTION 1009 IS INHERENTLY CONTRADICTORY IS BASELESS 11
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF WORD COUNT 14

TABLES OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Burch v. Gombos
(2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 352
Bustillos v. Murphy
(2006) 96 Cal.App.4th 1277
Gion v. City of Santa Cruz
(1970) 2 Cal.3d 29
Friends of the Trail v. Blasius (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 810
Hanshaw v. Long Valley Road Association
(2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 471
Klein v. United States of America
(2010) 50 Cal.4th 68
Pulido v. Pereira
(2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1250
STATUTES
Civil Code section 1009 1-13
Government Code section 7050

CASE NO.: S230104

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JAIME A. SCHER and JANE McALLISTER,

Petitioners,

v.

JOHN F. BURKE; GERMAINE BURKE; RICHARD ERICKSON; CHRISTINA ERTEZAK; BENNETT KERNS, TRUSTEE OF THE A.S.A. TRUST, DATED JUNE 28, 2005; WENDIE MALICK; GEMMA MARSHALL; NORTHERN TRUST BANK N.A.; ANDREA D. SCHRODER; RICHARD B. SCHRODER

Respondent.

After a Decision By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 3; Docket Number: B235892

Superior Court of Los Angeles, The Honorable Malcolm Mackey Case Number: BC 415646

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

Petitioners ostensible reason for seeking review is to resolve a conflict between the Opinion here, holding that Civil Code section 1009 bars the ripening of *any* public use of private property into a dedication to the public (Opn. 33), and earlier decisions which hold

that the section 1009 bar applies only to use for "recreational" purposes (Ptn. 1).

But Petitioners fail to make any argument for limiting section 1009's application to recreational use. And, that failure is an effective admission that the Court of Appeal here came to the correct conclusion about the meaning of section 1009, leaving no real conflict for this Court to resolve.

Petitioners now contend that there is another exception to the applicability of section 1009, one not raised in the earlier cases, or in this case until now. They claim that section 1009 is inapplicable to bar the implied dedication of *roads*. (Ptn., pp. 1, 14-16). As shown below, however, Petitioners provide no good reason to read that exception into section 1009 either.

More generally, Petitioners complain that the Court of Appeal's holding that "the law of implied dedication has been completely obliterated by section 1009" (except for coastal property) extends that statute's reach "far beyond what [its] genesis and language... indicate the Legislature intended." (Ptn. 20).

The Opinion demonstrates, however, that this was precisely

what the Legislature intended. Legislative history quoted in the Opinion makes clear the Legislature's expectation that, with the passage of section 1009, "the doctrine of implied dedication would be deleted prospectively..." except for coastal land, and with that exception the statute would "[p]rohibit[] any use of private land... from conferring a vested right in [the] public..." without an "express written irrevocable offer" and acceptance in accordance with subsection (c) (emphasis in the original). (Opn., p. 31).

In rejecting the earlier cases' more limited interpretation, the Court of Appeal was here fulfilling the Legislature's clearly expressed intention, confirming that section 1009 means exactly what it says.

The Petition should be denied.

I. PETITIONERS FAIL TO CHALLENGE THE OPINION'S DEMONSTRATION THAT SECTION 1009 APPLIES TO NON-RECREATIONAL USES.

Petitioners made extensive arguments for the limitation of section 1009's effect to recreational uses in their briefing on appeal (RB 30-37). Now, in the face of the Court of Appeal's compelling reasons for rejecting that limitation, Petitioners have abandoned those arguments entirely.

The Court of Appeal found decisive reasons for concluding that section 1009 applies to all uses of private property by the public, in both the words of the statute and its legislative history.

First, the Court of Appeal found that the unambiguous language of the statute made it applicable to all uses. Prior decisions had found the limitation of the statute's ban to recreational uses in subdivision (a), the "preamble" of the statute, in which the Legislature states its intent to encourage landowners to "make their lands available for public recreational use." *Hanshaw v. Long Valley Road Association* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 471, 485, *Bustillos v. Murphy* (2006) 96 Cal.App.4th 1277, 1280-81, *Pulido v. Pereira* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1250.¹

But the Court of Appeal here noted that the term "recreational" is found *only* in the preamble; it appears nowhere in the operative provisions of the statute. (Opn., p. 29). In contrast to subdivision (a)'s reference to "public recreational use", the operative section (b) provides that "no use... by the public" shall ever ripen into a vested

Only one of these decisions, *Hanshaw* -- in which there were deeds referring to recorded maps containing offers of dedication, i.e., "explicit dedication, with an acceptance by public user"-- actually held section 1009 limited to recreational use. 116 Cal.App.4th 471, 476, 482-483. The statements of the limitation in the other cases are dicta.

public right to use that property.

Where, as here, the Legislature uses a term in one part of a statute and omits it from another, it shows an intention "to convey a different meaning." *Klein v. United States of America* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 68 at 80. The "preamble's" use of "recreational" in subdivision (a) cannot be read into the operative language of subdivision (b) (Opn., pp. 28-29).

Recognizing that other courts had interpreted subdivision (b) to apply only to recreational uses, however, the Court of Appeal went on to examine the legislative history of section 1009. As already shown, that history only confirmed the court's own unqualified reading of the statute. The Legislature's intent was to "delete" the "doctrine of implied dedication" except for coastal property, forbidding "any use" of other private land from "conferring a vested right in [the] public." (Opn., p. 31).

Finally, the Court of Appeal showed that the importation of the term "recreational" from subsection (a) of the statute into subsection (b) would thwart the Legislature's declared purpose rather than furthering it. Landowners who are told that only non-recreational —

not recreational – use can ripen into dedication to the public, but are unable to distinguish between the two kinds of users, will be discouraged from allowing *any* public use of their property. The result would be to defeat the Legislature's intent. (Opn., p. 32)

As confirmed by Petitioners' silence, the Opinion here has put to rest the issue of whether section 1009 applied only to recreational use. There is no need for this Court's intervention.

II. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR AN EXCEPTION IN SECTION 1009 FOR ROADS.

To support of their new proposal to except roads from section 1009, Petitioners turn to the statute's silence on the subject. The statute distinguishes between coastal and non-coastal property, and between recreational and other uses, but says nothing specific about roads. From that silence, Petitioners conclude that the Legislature "did not evidence any intent to change the law of implied dedication as it relates to roads." (Ptn. 15)

First, however, the failure of a statute using general language to reference a specific subject from that language cannot be reason to except that subject from the statute's ambit. Otherwise there would be no end to exceptions. Section 1009 does not reference property used

The second secon

for parking or agriculture, either. But that does not justify making exceptions for them.

Second, and crucially, section 1009 is not entirely silent on the subject. In subsection (a)(2) the Legislature expressed its intent to free owners from the fear they will lose property rights, not only if they allow the public to "use" and "enjoy" their property, but also if they allow the public to "pass over their property for recreational purposes." Roads are among the principal means of passing over property. In the absence of an explicitly stated exception for roads, it is reasonable to assume that the Legislature intended to encourage owners to allow passage over their property by roads as well as other means.

Petitioners seek to distinguish roads from open land on the basis that the dedication of a road does not "prevent all other use of an entire parcel of property." (Ptn. 9). But the same is true of any dedication resulting from owners' willingness to have the public "pass over their property."

Petitioners' effort to draw an exception for roads from case law fares no better. Petitioners begin with a lengthy discussion of *Gion v*.

City of Santa Cruz (1970) 2 Cal.3d 29 (Gion-Dietz), the implied dedication case that stimulated the passage of section 1009. (Ptn. 6-9). While first admitting that roads were included in the property subjected to implied dedication in Gion-Dietz (Ptn. 6), Petitioners later assert that Gion-Dietz "solely dealt with use of open land, not specifically roads...," for recreational purposes. (Ptn. 8).

The *Gion-Dietz* opinion shows, however, that the implied dedication in *Gion* was of property used as a parking lot, and gave the public the right "in, on, over, and across said property." 2 Cal.3d 29 at 35. In *Dietz*, it was a beach and a dirt road leading to it. 2 Cal.3d 29, 36. This Court made no distinction there between the land being used for recreation and the land traversed to get to the recreation. On the contrary, the fact that *Gion-Dietz*' dealt with roads and parking lots is confirmation that section 1009 was, for one thing, aimed at facilitating the public's access to recreation by making it possible for them to drive across private land to recreational sites.

Petitioners claim that the concern which was generated by Gion-Dietz and led to the enactment of section 1009 was not about the implied dedication of roads at all, but only of open land. (Ptn. 6, 9-

10). They provide no support for that claim, and the facts as we know them are to the contrary.

Petitioners also address the cases dealing with section 1009 since its passage, *Burch v. Gombos* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 352, 356, n. 12, *Friends of the Trail v. Blasius* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 810, 817, *Hanshaw v. Long Valley Road Association, supra*, 116 Cal.App.4th 471, 485, *Bustillos v. Murphy, supra*, 96 Cal.App.4th 1277, 1280-81, *Pulido v. Pereira, supra*, 234 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1250. (Ptn. 17-19). Petitioners assert that each of these cases "conclude[s], one way or another, that implied dedication of roads is not prevented by Section 1009." (Ptn. 17).

Again, Petitioners are attempting to draw affirmative support from silence. All of these cases deal with the question of whether roads or trails have been subjected to implied dedication. And, in none but *Bustillos* did the courts find section 1009 applicable to bar implied dedication. Nowhere, however, did any of these the courts indicate that section 1009 was inapplicable just because there was a road or trail involved.

Further, Bustillos did apply section 1009 to prevent public

recreational use of *trails* from ripening into implied dedication. And the *Bustillos* court nowhere suggested that the result would have been different if members of the public passed over private land on a road, as in *Gion-Dietz*, rather than on a path. 96 Cal.App.4th 1277, 1280-81

Petitioners express a concern that application of section 1009 to roads could deprive owners of legal access to their homes, "just as it prevents plaintiffs here from accessing their home." (Ptn. 20)

But Petitioners have not even claimed that they cannot access their home, only that they are being denied access by the "quickest and most convenient route." (Opn., p. 45). As the Court of Appeal explained: "Plaintiffs calculate that traveling Henry Ridge Motorway south to Gold Stone Road is more convenient because this route to Topanga center takes 7 to 10 minutes. There are numerous roads connecting to Henry Ridge Motorway in the north to Topanga center, but those routes take plaintiffs 18 to 20 minutes." (Opn., p. 16).

Nor is this a case, like *Gion*, 2 Cal.3d 29, 36-37, in which hordes of the public seek, and have been denied, access to defendants' properties. It involves only Petitioners, a husband and wife who want to use their neighbors' property out of convenience.

If, then, there were an argument that section 1009, though entirely silent regarding roads, should be read as making an exception for roads, whether because people may otherwise be denied legal access to their homes, or because the public at large may be denied access to a place they are clamoring to go, this is not the case in which to consider the issue.

In sum, Petitioners have given this Court no good reason to believe that the Legislature did not intend section 1009 to encourage landowners to allow the public to "pass over their property for recreational purposes" by roads as well as footpaths.

III. PETITIONERS CONTENTION THAT SECTION 1009 IS INHERENTLY CONTRADICTORY IS BASELESS.

In an effort to show that the Legislature could not have meant section 1009 to eliminate the doctrine of implied dedication from California law completely, Petitioners argue that the provisions of the statute are confusing and inherently contradictory. (Ptn. 14-16).

Petitioners' argument is that, while subsection (b) provides that dedication to public use can only be done "in the manner set forth in subdivision (c)," subdivision (c) itself provides that dedication may be done in the manner prescribed by Government Code section 7050,

"[i]n addition to any procedure authorized by law and not prohibited by this section...."

According to Petitioners, subsection (b) points to subsection (c), and through it to section 7050, as the only means of obtaining dedication. But (c) explicitly allows for procedures other than that prescribed by 7050, so long as they are not otherwise forbidden by section 1009. So section 1009 does not completely eliminate other methods of dedication after all.

There is no contradiction.

Subsection (b) prohibits dedication in the absence of an "express written irrevocable offer" made in accordance with subsection (c). Subsection (c) provides that such an offer can be made either under section 7050, or using any other procedure authorized by law and not prohibited by section 1009.

However, as section 1009 prohibits dedication except by an "express written irrevocable offer," the other procedures referred to must be modes of making "express written irrevocable offers" other than under section 7050. That provides no basis for concluding, for example, that an offer of dedication can be inferred from public use.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeal worked hard and reached a thoroughly-researched decision that correctly resolves the scope of Civil Code section 1009. Petitioners present no convincing reason for this court to address the issue.

For the reasons stated above, Respondents respectfully request that the Petition be denied.